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1. Name of Property

historic name: Vandyke-Heath House_______________________________

other name/site number: Jacob C. Vandyke House, CRS#N-5891___________

2. Location

street & number: 385 Green Spring-Vandyke Road (County Road 47)__________

not for publication: N/A

:ity/town: Townsend, Apppquinimink Hundred___ vicinity: X 

state: DE county: New Castle_______ code: 003 zip code: 19734

3. Classification

Ownership of Property: private___________________________________

Category of Property: building_________________________________

Number of Resources within Property:

Contributing Noncontributing

buildings
sites
structures
objects
Total

0 0
0

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National 
Register: 0____________________________________________________

Name of related multiple property listing: Dwellings of the Rural Elite 
in Central Delaware, 1770-1830 +/-______________________ __



4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act 
of 1986, as amended, I hereby certify that this X nomination ___ 
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation 
standards for registering properties in the National Register of 
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements 
set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property X meets 
___ does not meet the National Register Criteria. ,__ See continuation 
sheet. // // s/ rf/s/TJ^ \ /

Signature? of certifying (jzffridial——————————— ̂ a^e f 

Division of Historical and Cultural Affairs______________

In my opinion, the property ___ meets ___ does not meet the National 
Register criteria. X See continuation sheet. ;

Signature of commenting or other officialDate 

Itate or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification 

lereby certify that this property is

entered in the National Register
__ See continuation sheet, 
determined eligible for the _________________ _______
National Register
__ See continuation sheet, 
determined not eligible for the _________________ _______
National Register 
removed from the National Register __________________ _______

other (explain): _________________________________________

—————————————————————————JQ_.——————————————————————————————— __________
Signature of Keeper Date

of Action



6. Function or Use

Historic: Domestic________________ Sub: single family

Current : Domestic________________ Sub: single family

7. Description

Architectural Classification 

Early Republic/Federal______

Other Description:

Materials: foundation Stone___ roof Metal
walls Shingle_____ other Wood

Describe present and historic physical appearance. X See continuation 
sheet.

The Vandyke-Heath House is located in Appoquinimink Hundred, New Castle 
County, southeast of CONRAIL's Centerville Branch at Vandyke at 385 
Greenspring-Vandyke Road (County Road 47). A dwelling, a barn, a chicken 
coop, and a privy are located on a 3.7 acre parcel. The house faces south 
and is aligned with the road.

The dwelling was constructed in three distinct building periods. The 
original house, built in the late eighteenth century, was a one-room, one- 
and-a-half story, three-bay log structure. In the mid-nineteenth century, 
the house was raised by the addition of a frame second story and enlarged 
with a taller, two-and-a-half story, two-bay, one-room frame wing on the 
west end. In the late nineteenth century, a two-story, two-bay frame 
section was added on the west end. Shed porches are appended to the front 
and back of the building and its entire exterior, except for the rear 
porch, is clad with wood shingles. Behind the house to the north stand a 
late nineteenth-century barn, a chicken coop, and a privy that are consid­ 
ered non-contributing elements within the historic context defined by the 
nomination.

The original block of the house is built on a three-bay, one-room plan 
about 16' x 21' with a central entry and two windows in the front facade



8. Statement of Significance

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in 
relation to other properties: locally_____________

Applicable National Register Criteria: A and C_______

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) : __________

Areas of Significance: Architecture
Social History

Period(s) of Significance: 1780-1799, 1808-1830 

Significant Dates : ____________________

Significant Person(s): N/A

Cultural Affiliation: N/A

Architect/Builder: Unknown

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria 
considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above. 
X See continuation sheet.

The Vandyke-Heath House is eligible for listing on the National Register of 
Historic Places under Criterion A because it represents the changes in the 
landscape due to the emergence of a new class of farmers in the federal 
period (1770-1830) and under Criterion C as a type or method of construc­ 
tion that represents the late Georgian/Federal vernacular styles popular 
among Delaware's rural elite during the 1770-1830 +/- period. The houses 
of the rural elite as a functional type relate to the following historic 
context in the Delaware Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan: Upper 
Peninsula Zone; 1770-1830 +/-; agriculture, settlement patterns and 
demographic change, and architecture, engineering, and decorative arts.

Beginning in the third quarter of the eighteenth century, a self-described 
class of agriculturalists arose who were less actively engaged in the 
physical practice of farming and more heavily involved in the adminis­ 
tration and management of agricultural estates. They purchased land in 
towns and in the countryside as investments, often renting out the land to 
tenants or transferring operations to individual farm managers. By 1850, 
the result was a dominant class of farmers who did not cultivate the soil 
but recorded and regulated the annual cycle of planting and harvest through 
ledgers and daybooks.



9. Major Bibliographical References

X See continuation sheet. 

Previous documentation on file (NFS):

N/A preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been
requested.

N/A previously listed in the National Register 
N/A previously determined eligible by the National Register 
N/A designated a National Historic Landmark
N/A recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey # ________ 
N/A recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # ________

Primary Location of Additional Data:

X State historic preservation office 
_ Other state agency 
__ Federal agency 
_ Local government 
X University
Other — Specify Repository: ___________________________

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property: Approximately 3 acres

JTM References: Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

A 18 435560 4356480 B 
C _ _____ ______ D

See continuation sheet.

Verbal Boundary Description: X See attached map.

The boundary for the Vandyke-Heath House is shown on the accompanying New 
Castle County tax parcel map (tax parcel 14.22.1) and is outlined in bold 
black lines. The nominated property is a polygon containing approximately

Boundary Justification: __ See continuation sheet.

The boundary includes the farmhouse and yard that have been associated 
historically with the David Wilson Thomas House and that maintain historic 
integrity.



11. Form Prepared By

Name/Title: Bernard L. Herman, Rebecca J. Siders and Max Van Balgoov 

Organization: Center for Historic Architecture and Engineering______ 

Street & Number: University of Delaware____ Telephone: (302) 451-8097 

City or Town: Newark____________________ State: DE ZIP: 19716
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and an opposing entry on the rear facade. It may have had an exterior 
chimney on the west gable end and an exterior cellar entry on the east 
gable end. The house is constructed of hewn logs joined with V-notch 
cornering. The logs are exposed on the front and rear walls of the 
interior and exterior. The interstices between the logs are chinked with 
plaster, and the interior and exterior walls are painted white. The room 
currently serves as a dining room and kitchen.

In the mid-nineteenth century, the building was raised to two-and-a-half 
stories with a frame addition. A modern open-string staircase in the 
northwest corner leads to the second floor chamber. This chamber contains 
three windows in the south wall and one in the north wall. A cedar closet 
and cupboard are in the west wall. A doorway in the west wall leads to the 
chamber and bath in the west wing, and a second doorway leads to the 
chamber in the east wing. This room currently serves as a bedroom.

During the mid-nineteenth century when the dwelling's height was raised, a 
two-story, frame wing about 16' x 13' was added west of the house. It 
contains a parlor on the first floor and a bedroom and bath on the second 
floor. The parlor has a fireplace in the west wall with a wooden, 
classically-inspired mantle and two cupboards built into the jambs on both 
sides of the interior chimney. The north wall has two windows, and the 
south wall has a window and a paneled door leading to the front porch. The 
east wall has a small passage connecting the wing with the original block 
of the house. The second floor has two windows, one in the south wall and 
one in the north wall.

The wing's construction required the removal of the original chimney and 
relocated the front entry of the house by changing the original entry to a 
window, cutting a doorway between the two rooms, and placing the new front 
entry in the wing. Late in the nineteenth century, a two-story, two-bay 
frame wing about 16' x 14' was added on the east side of the original 
block. It contains one room on the first floor and a chamber above. The 
first floor contains two windows in the south wall and one in the east 
wall. There are exterior doors in the north and south wall; the south door 
is sealed and inaccessible from the outside. The fireplace in the east 
gable end is blocked and modified to accommodate the cast-iron stove. The 
chamber above has a window in the south wall and another in the north wall. 
This wing most likely served originally as a kitchen but is now a utility 
room.

The present entry to the cellar is an exterior bulkhead door on the north 
side of the west wing. In the earliest section of the cellar, the original 
semi-round, unbarked log sills and joists survive. The rubble foundation 
remains intact except for portions of the west wall (which was broken 
through in the nineteenth century to provide access to the cellar of the 
west wing) and the south wall (which was replaced with modern cement block 
in the mid-twentieth century). What may have been the early exterior 
entrance to the cellar was blocked by the addition of the east wing,
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entrance to the cellar was blocked by the addition of the east wing, 
although a rare run of early log steps still exist in the cellar.

Contributing Buildings 
dwelling

Noncontributing Buildings 
barn
chicken coop 
privy
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Daniel Charles Heath, the builder of the Jacob Vandyke House, was among 
this rural elite. The earliest reference to Heath is his appearance in 
1778 as the highest rated taxpayer in Appoquinimink Hundred. 1 By 1797, 
his tax assessment records him with 5000 acres, two dwellings, nine 
outhouses, and 47 slaves. 2 His taxable assets of $49,066 easily placed 
him among the wealthiest citizens in Delaware.

The house is located on a major highway connecting the Sassafras River and 
Duck Creek. Known as the Sassafras Road in the eighteenth century, it was 
the trade link between the east and west sides of the Chesapeake Peninsula. 
During the nineteenth-century, the Greenspring and Vandyke Railroad Station 
was built on this road next to the Vandyke-Heath House. It was not until 
the twentieth century that the Greenspring-Vandyke Road ceased to be an 
important road. 3

When this house was built, the majority of dwellings were of log or frame 
construction; a significantly lesser number were made of brick. Hewn log 
walling was the most widely used construction and was adopted for 
structures ranging from stylish two-story houses to chicken coops, yet few 
of these buildings survived the nineteenth century rebuilding cycles. 
Those that remain, however, represent the best of log-building technology.

In 1799, Heath's debts forced the sale of his entire estate. Edward 
Tilghman, a Philadelphia attorney, purchased 2022 acres of the 5000-acre 
estate and sold it piecemeal over the next several years. 4 Tilghman 
managed his property second-hand, leaving direct administration to local 
managers. In 1807, a parcel of 150 acres containing the house changed hand 
several times, first to Charles and Hannah Coalman, then to Peter and Mary 
Taggart, and finally to Simon Sweetman, a farmer in Appoquinimink 
Hundred. 5

Sweetman first appeared on a tax assessment list in 1808. & By 1816, he 
owned 250 acres of land, half of which was improved with two wooden 
buildings, along with two slaves and livestock giving him a total 
assessment of $1984. This placed him in the top wealth decile for 
Appoquinimink Hundred."7 By 1824, when he sold his estate to his son, he 
had acquired nearly 400 acres. 8 Soon afterward, Simon Sweetman, Jr., 
increased his holdings through his marriage to Martha Heverin, who owned 
150 acres. 9

In 1847, Sweetman sold the house and surrounding land to Jacob Vandyke. 10 
It was during Vandyke's lifetime that the Queen Anne and Kent Railroad 
extended a line from Middletown in the 1870s and established a station at 
the Greenspring-Vandyke Road, giving the station and house its name of 
Vandyke.

The Vandyke-Heath House has integrity of location, design, materials, 
workmanship, and association.
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Attachment A contains relevant historic and present day maps: Rea & Price's 
1849 Map of the State of Delaware, Beers' 1868 Map of the State of 
Delaware, Hopkins' 1881 Map of New Castle County, present-day highway maps 
for New Castle and Kent counties.

Footnotes

1. Scharf, 1888, 118.

2. NCTA, Appoquinimink Hundred, 1797.

3. Pryor, 1975, 5.

4. NCRD, Book T, Volume 2, p. 5 (1799); NCTA, Appoquinimink Hundred, 1804, Edward 
Tilghman; NCRD, Book G, Volume 3, p. 429 (1805).

5. NCRD, Book G, Volume 3, p. 334 (1807); Pryor, 1975, 143.

6. Pryor, 1975, 143.

7. NCTA, Appoquinimink Hundred, 1816. Statistical analysis conducted by the 
Center for Historic Architecture and Engineering, University of Delaware.

8. NCRD, Book B, Volume 4, p. 249 (1824).

9. Pryor, 1975, 143.

10. NCRD, Book V, Volume 5, p. 231 (1847).
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3 acres. Beginning at a point defined by the intersection of the north 
side of County Road 47 and the east side of the Maryland and Delaware 
Railroad right-of-way, proceed approximately 500 feet northeast along the 
east side of the Maryland and Delaware Railroad right-of-way. Then, 
proceed east approximately 450 feet to the north side of County Road 47. 
The parcel boundary is completed by returning to the starting point at the 
intersection the Maryland and Delaware right-of-way and Road 47. The 
location of the property is UTM reference point 18 435560 4356480.
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